# ORIGINAL

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 96,235

NOV 1 5 (SS9 CLERK

FILED DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX

ELVIA SORIANO and ANGEL SORIANO,

Petitioners,

vs.

B & B CASH GROCERY STORES, INC. d/b/a U-SAVE SUPERMARKET,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT CASE NO. 98-01668

#### BRIEF ON MERITS OF PETITIONERS

SIMON & DONDERO, P.A. SunTrust International Center One S.E. Third Avenue Suite 2110 Miami, FL 33131

BAMBI G. BLUM, P.A. 46 S.W 1st Street Fourth Floor Miami, FL 33131 305/371-3848

####

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

3

Plaintiff, Elvia Soriano, asks this Court to review the district court's affirmance of a directed verdict in favor of B & B Grocery Stores ("B&B") in a suit for injuries she sustained in a slip and fall accident. The facts adduced in Plaintiff's case and viewed in a light most favorable to Plaintiff are as follows:

Mrs. Soriano was a frequent shopper at B & B. In fact, both of her sons had worked there. (Vol. 111, T.167). On the day of the accident, Sunday afternoon, Mrs. Soriano finished her shopping, and was heading to the store exit pushing a shopping cart filled with grocery bags, when she slipped and fell to the ground. (Vol. III, T.148-150, 168, 170). A store manager helped Mrs. Soriano to her feet, showed her that she had slipped on a banana and scraped it off the rubber sole of her shoe. (Vol. III, T.151, 153).

Mrs. Soriano observed that it was a piece of banana peel that was brown with very little yellow on it, (Vol. 111, T.151-152). She said that it looked like a rotten banana because of the condition of the peel.<sup>1</sup> (Vol. III, T.152, 181). Mrs. Soriano testified:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mrs. Soriano did not see the banana and did not know how long it had been on the floor before she fell. (Vol. III, T.184).

Q. And after this fall, did you see like what -- I guess you would call it mush. I don't know how that translates. Mush from the banana on the bottom of your shoe? A. Yes.

Q. Yes, ma'am. Let's start over. Since you don't know how long the banana peel was on the floor before you fell, is it fair to say that you can't deny that the **banana was** brown with a little bit of yellow on it when it first hit the floor?

A. I don't know. All I know is that it was rotten.

#### (Vol. 111, T.154, 179).

Jose Alvarez, the overall store manager for B & B, testified that this store sold only clean, nice, yellow bananas. They did not sell "darkened, browned out bananas", since customers generally do not like to buy brown bananas.<sup>2</sup> (Vol. II, T.147). Alvarez said that if a banana turned brown, he would take it off the produce stand. (Vol. II, T.167-168). Alvarez also said that he was familiar with how long it takes for bananas to turn brown, and testified that it takes from one to two days for the color to turn from yellow to brown. (Vol. II, T.168).

Alvarez agreed that it was not uncommon for customers to eat the store's fruit and other food while **shopping** and then **drop** some on the floor. (Vol. 11, T.164). Debris fell on the floor in this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Soriano testified that she thought this store sold both kinds of bananas. (Vol. 111, T.188).

store all of the time. (Vol. II, T.134-135; Vol. IV, T.10-12). Manager Alvarez testified that he considers a banana on the floor a hazard, which is something he would want picked up "immediately." (Vol. II, T.146).

đ

Alvarez testified that he instructed employees to look for debris and that B & B had "Daily Inspection Reports", which required them to check the store on an hourly basis for conditions like this banana to avoid accidents like Mrs. Soriano's. (Vol. II, T.135, 147).<sup>3</sup> These reports specified the times an employee should have inspected the store and required notation of any unsafe conditions in any area of the store, and notation of any corrective action taken. (Vol. II, T.138). Alvarez admitted that these reports were not completed hourly, nor even daily. The whole week's worth of reports were filled in on Saturday nights by the assistant manager on duty and then forwarded to B & B's main offices in Tampa. (Vol. II, T.139-140). All of the reports were routinely filled in identically, showing the inspections had been performed, and none indicated that any debris was found -- not even

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> These reports actually required eight daily inspections at two hour intervals beginning at 8:00 a.m. and ending at 10:00 p.m. (App. 2).

the report for the day of Mrs. Soriano's accident. (Vol. 11, T.142-143, 146).

ø

Alvarez conceded that the information in the reports indicating that inspections were completed at the specified times was false. (Vol. 11, T.139). Alvarez testified that he knew all along that the inspection reports were not done properly and that they were being falsified. (Vol. 11, T.140). In fact, he said this was common knowledge in the management level of this store and in the company, and was done the same way at every other B & B store. (Vol. 11, T.140-141). No other records existed which showed when somebody actually went around and inspected the store, except for the falsified ones. (Vol. 11, T.144).

Alvarez admitted that the store was not checked or swept hourly. (Vol. II, T.135-138). Alvarez testified that no one was specifically assigned the duty to sweep the floor at any certain time on any day. (Vol. 11, T.136). He also testified as follows:

> Q. How often was the floor actually swept, sir? A. Well, it depends on the amount of help we had that day. Sometimes we could do it ten, fifteen times in a day, Sometimes we did it three, four, five, six times. It is a situation where people call in sick. You don't have enough help that day. It is not an every day thing. (Vol. 11, T.137).<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> On cross examination, Alvarez said that, as an average, the floor was swept every three to four hours. (Vol. II, T.159).

Thus, sweeping was done randomly, whenever someone, generally a bag boy, was available and had the time to do it. (Vol. 11, T.136-137, 159) According to Alvarez, Sunday afternoons were busy times at this store. (Vol 11, T.161). On a typical Sunday there were two bag boys stationed up front helping five cashiers. (Vol. II, T.161; Vol. IV, T.19). Alvarez testified that there was no store record which showed when someone might have swept or inspected this store on the Sunday Mrs. Soriano fell. (Vol. 11, T.170).<sup>5</sup>

Clay Boney, the assistant manager on duty, filled out an accident report for Mrs. Soriano's injury. (Vol. II, T.136, 149). Boney was required to list all of the things in the report that were important. (Vol. 11, T.145; Vol. IV, T.5). Manager Alvarez did not know why somebody for the supermarket did not describe the color of the banana in the report. He thought this was important information. (Vol. 11, T.169). Alvarez also said that if a store employee had been in that area shortly before and did not see a banana, this should have been included in the accident report as well. (Vol. II, T.147). No such fact was included in the report. (App. 3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Alvarez was not on duty the day of Mrs. Soriano's accident. (Vol. 11, T.136).

Mrs. Soriano brought suit against B & B for a fractured kneecap she sustained from her slip and fall in the grocery store on the theories that the store had constructive notice of the presence of the banana peel for a sufficient length of time to impose liability for her injuries **and that** the store engaged in a negligent method of operation. At the close of the Plaintiff's case, the **lower court** granted a directed verdict for B & B.

The Fourth District affirmed the directed verdict for the market, reasoning that Mrs. Soriano's case of constructive notice is premised upon an impermissible stacking of inferences because the brown color of the banana peel gives rise to equally likely inferences that the peel aged on the floor or that it was brown when it was dropped:

> The inference is just as likely in such a case that someone had purchased the brown banana and dropped it on the floor in that condition, or that someone brought the brown banana into the grocery store, as there was competent evidence that customers of the store would often eat food while in the store and drop debris on the floor.

Soriano V. B & B Cash Grocery Stores, Inc., 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1116 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999).<sup>6</sup> The Fourth District further held that, in

FOURTH FLOOR, 46 SOUTHWEST FIRST STREET, MIAMI. FLORIDA 33130-1610 . TEL. (305) 371-3848

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Soriano has included this opinion in an appendix to this brief. (App. 1).

order to submit Mrs. Soriano's case against the market to a jury, there must be -- aside from the brown color of the peel --"additional evidence," "such as cart tracks, footprints, dirt or even grit," to establish that the peel was on the floor a sufficient length of time to charge the market with constructive notice. Finding no such "additional" evidence, the court concluded that plaintiff did not and could not prove her case.

The Fourth District also rejected Mrs. Soriano's argument that the store was liable for negligent method of operation. The store did not perform regular sweeps and, in fact, falsely filled out sweep reports showing that sweeps were conducted at two hour intervals, when they were not, and routinely filled in the reports after the week had ended. The court held:

> However, we decline Appellants' invitation to apply such theory as an alternative to requiring actual or constructive notice where injuries result from slipping on a foreign substance in a market setting. See Rowe v. Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc., 714 So. 2d 1180 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) (court found that Schaap was not binding precedent); Publix Super Market, Inc. v. Sanchez, 700 So. 2d 405 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997), rev. denied, 717 So. 2d 537 (Fla. 1998).

The Fourth District affirmed the directed verdict for the market on both of these grounds. This Court accepted discretionary review.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mrs. Soriano had the misfortune of slipping on a brown banana peel in Broward County. Had she slipped in Dade County, she still would have been seriously injured, but she would have had her day in court against B&B on both of her theories of liability: constructive notice and negligent method of operation.

This Court held in <u>Montsomerv v. Florida Jitney Jungle Stores</u>, 281 So. 2d 302 (Fla. 1973), that where circumstantial evidence is susceptible of competing inferences on the issue of constructive notice, the case should be decided by a jury. There was circumstantial evidence in this case from which it could be inferred that the banana peel remained on the floor long enough for B&B to have discovered it, no different in character than the evidence deemed sufficient by this Court in <u>Montsomerv</u>.

The courts below erected a roadblock to recovery consisting of "dirt" or "grit", erroneously believing that such "additional evidence" was necessary to satisfy the inference upon inference rule. However, it would be equally inferable in this case from any evidence of cart tracks, footprints or dirt that Mrs. Soriano herself ran over the offending banana with her own cart or that her own shoe caused the dirt, footprint, mush or grit seconds before her fall, as it is that these conditions were created 15-20 minutes

before by the soles or wheels of other shoppers. Decisions from the Third District expose the "additional evidence" requirement as pure fiction, and adhere to the rule in <u>Montsomerv</u>.

Soriano's **case** has also fallen victim to a strict Mrs. application of the negligent method of operation theory, described and applied by this Court to places of public amusement in Wells v. Palm Beach Kennel Club, 35 So. 2d 720 (Fla. 1948). Mrs. Soriano submits that the applicability of this doctrine should not rest upon the distinction between 10 lanes of greyhounds and 10 aisles of groceries, but rather upon the foreseeability of people eating and dropping things in traveled areas and a method of operation so careless so as to be an invitation to injury. Application of this doctrine here is particularly appropriate because, to the extent that Mrs. Soriano has been hindered in proving constructive knowledge by demonstrating the precise time the last inspection or sweep was performed, it is solely because the store follows no maintenance schedule and falsifies its records. B & B should not be permitted to escape liability by virtue of its own misconduct.

Mrs. Soriano is entitled to her day in court.

#### ARGUMENT

### I. THE LOWER COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN AFFIRMING A DIRECTED VERDICT IN FAVOR OF THE DEFENDANT

#### a. Applicable principles of law.

The principles of law for imposing liability on a business for

a patron's slip and fall are as follows:

To recover for injuries incurred in a slip-and-fall case, the plaintiff must generally prove that the owner of the premises had actual or constructive notice of the dangerous condition. Brooks v. Phillip Watts Enters., Inc., 560 So.2d 339, 341 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), rev. den., 567 So.2d 435 (Fla. 1990). Constructive knowledge may be inferred from either 1) the amount of time a substance has been on the floor, or 2) the fact that the condition occurred with such frequency that the owner should Brooks, supra, at have known of its existence. 342. The owner of the store may also be held liable where an agent or employee of the store negligently caused the dangerous condition to exist. Publix Supermarkets v. Schmidt, 509 So.2d 977 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987). In addition, the method of operation of the owner may be so inherently dangerous that while the owner did not actually create the specific condition which caused the Wells v. Palm fall, they still may be held liable. Beach Kennel Club, 160 Fla. 502, 35 So.2d 720 (Fla. 1948).

<u>Schaap v. Publix Supermarkets, Inc.</u>, 579 So. 2d 831, 833 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

Mrs. Soriano's suit against B&B alleged constructive knowledge based on the length time the banana remained on the floor and also alleged negligent method of operation. Mrs. Soriano's case of

constructive notice was based upon circumstantial evidence, i.e., "evidence leading to an inference that a substance has been on the floor for a sufficient length of **time**" such that a defendant, in the exercise of reasonable care, should have known of the condition. <u>Gonzalez v. B & B Cash Grocery Stores</u>, 692 So. 2d 297, 298 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997).

b. Standard of review.

Competing inferences justify submitting a cause to the jury:

In discussing inferences in circumstantial evidence cases, our supreme court in *Voelker v. Combined Insurance Co. of America, 73 So.* 2d 403, 406 (Fla. 1954), enunciated these basic principles:

If the circumstances established by the evidence be susceptible of a reasonable inference or inferences which could authorize recovery and are also capable of an equally reasonable inference, or inferences, contra, a jury question is presented....

Gonzalez v. B & B Cash Grocery Stores, 692 So. 2d 297, 298 (Fla.

4th DCA 1997).

Moreover,

The power to direct a verdict in a slip and fall case should be exercised with caution, and it should never be granted unless the evidence is of such a nature that under no view which the jury might lawfully take of it, favorable to the adverse party, could a verdict for the latter be upheld. Little v. *Publix* Markets, *Inc.*, Fla.App. 1970, 234 So.2d 132; First Gulf Beach Bank & Trust Company v. Alvarez, Fla.App. 1969, 227 So.2d 745.

<u>Marlowe v. Food Fair Stores of Florida, Inc.</u>, 284 So. 2d 490 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973), <u>cert. denied</u>, 291 so. 2d 205 (Fla. 1974).

Both the trial court and the Fourth District court failed to apply these principles in concluding that there was insufficient circumstantial evidence of constructive notice in this case to submit to a jury.

# c. Soriano presented case of circumstantial evidence for jury.

Abundant case law holds that a jury question is presented on the issue of constructive notice based on inferences of aging time drawn from the appearance of the offending substance.

This Court reversed the district court decision, directing a verdict for defendant, in <u>Montsomerv v. Florida Jitnev Jungle</u> <u>Stores, Inc.</u>, 281 So. 2d 302 (Fla. 1973), where plaintiff slipped on a collard leaf in the defendant's grocery store. The primary evidence establishing the span of time the leaf had been on the floor was Mr. Montgomery's testimony that the leaf was old, wilted and dirty looking. There **was** also evidence that the plaintiff and her husband had been in the area where plaintiff fell for 15 minutes; no other shoppers were there; and no one swept the floor during that period. There **was** also evidence that store employees

had inspected and swept **the area** just before plaintiff entered the produce aisle, and saw no collard leaves.

This Court held:

Since there was a conflict in the evidence, the trial court properly submitted the matter to the jury.

<u>Id</u> at 303.

Similarly, in <u>Ramev v. Winn Dixie Montgomery, Inc.</u>, 710 So. 2d 191 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998), the court held:

> The trial court concluded that Ramey's testimony that the butter on the supermarket floor had lumps in it and had partly melted constituted sufficient evidence to submit the question to the jury. The court found the fact that the butter had melted indicated it had been on the floor for a period of time. Winn Dixie correctly asserts that Ramey did not testify that some of the butter had melted. Nevertheless, it appears partial melting reasonably could be inferred from testimony that there were some chunks of butter on the floor. The scattered chunks of butter could reasonably be regarded by a finder of fact as an indicator that a sufficient period of time had passed to put Winn Dixie on notice of the condition of the substance on the Therefore, we affirm the trial court's floor. ruling that sufficient evidence was presented from which the jury could determine the existence of negligence on the part of Winn Dixie.

In Washington v. Pic-N-Pay Supermarket, Inc., 453 So. 2d 508 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), the Fourth District held that a directed verdict should not have been granted for the store owner, based primarily on plaintiff's testimony that she slipped on "[s]ome old

nasty collard green leaves . . . looked like they had been there for quite awhile." Id. at 509.

In Ress v. X-tra Super Food Centers, Inc., 616 So. 2d 110 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), the plaintiff slipped and fell on sauerkraut. The primary circumstantial evidence of the aging process the sauerkraut underwent on the floor of the store was plaintiff's testimony that it was "gunky, dirty and wet and black." Id. The court's opinion notes that other matters of record showed that the sauerkraut had been on the floor for at least five minutes, a time which case law holds is too short to establish constructive notice. See Montsomerv v. Florida Jitney Jungle Stores, Inc., 281 So. 2d 302 (Fla. 1973); Marlowe v. Food Fair Stores of Florida, Inc., 284 So. 2d 490 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973), cert. denied, 291 So. 2d 205 (Fla. 1994). Nevertheless, the Fourth District held that summary judgment in favor of the defendant storeowner had been improperly granted,

There is likewise a jury question in this case as to whether the dangerous condition on the floor existed a sufficient length of time to charge B & B with constructive knowledge. There was evidence that this store sold only yellow bananas. The store manager said that customers often ate the store's fruit while shopping and dropped it on the floor. Mrs. Soriano slipped on a

brown, mushy, rotten banana peel. The store manager said it takes one to two days for a yellow banana, like the ones B & B sells, to turn brown. It is readily inferable from the foregoing, that this banana sat on the floor undetected for at least  $\mathbf{a}$  day before this accident.

This inference is furthermore bolstered by the facts that the store was busy on Sunday afternoons, understaffed by bag boys who were available to sweep, that the store's inspections and sweeps were random -- based on availability of these employees **and "not** an everyday thing." Furthermore, the accident report, prepared by Clay Boney, the manager on duty, did not indicate that this area had recently been inspected, which it should have if this was the case.

> Evidence that no inspection had been made during a particular period of time prior to an accident may warrant an inference that the dangerous condition existed long enough so that the exercise of reasonable care would have resulted in discovery.

<u>Schmidt v. Bowl America Florida, Inc.</u>, 358 So. 2d 1385, 1386 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978) . <u>See Jenkins v. Brackin</u>, 171 So. 2d 589 (Fla. 2d DCA 1965) (evidence that no inspection had been made during a particular period of time may warrant an inference that the dangerous condition existed long enough so that the exercise of reasonable

care would have resulted in discovery). This inference is warranted in this case.

The rule which should have applied here, but was not, is the following:

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