ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER 95,667

AUX CLE

EVELYN OWENS, and JOHN J. OWENS, her husband,

Petitioners/Plaintiffs,

vs.

PUBLIX SUPER MARKETS, INC.,

Respondent/Defendant.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL V. HAMMOND, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 0896690 RICHARD S. WOMBLE, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 319538 Rissman, Weisberg, Barrett, Hurt, Donahue & McLain, P.A. 201 East Pine Street, 15th Floor Orlando, FL 32801 (407) 839-0120 Attorneys for Respondent, PUBLIX SUPER MARKETS, INC.

####

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

exclusion of all other reasonable inferences, the court held that the color of the banana could not be used to demonstrate that the premises owner had constructive knowledge of its presence.

The Second District Court affirmed the trial court's summary judgment in favor the premises owner because it was "not permitted to indulge in constructing one inference upon another." <u>Id</u>. at 310. The <u>Bates</u> court specifically relied on this court's precedents in <u>Montgomery</u> and <u>Trusell</u> to reach its conclusion. Specifically, that court stated

to infer from the color and condition of the peeling alone that it had been there a sufficient length of time to permit discovery, we would first have to infer that the banana peel was not already black and deteriorated when it reached defendants' floor. This is the type of "mental gymnastics" prohibited by the <u>Trusell</u> decision, since the latter inference, under the circumstances, is not to the exclusion of all other reasonable inferences.

Id. at 311. (citations omitted).

Because the facts of the case now before this court are virtually identical to the facts of <u>Bates</u>, and because the <u>Bates</u> court so carefully followed this courts Precedent in <u>Trusell</u>, this court should uphold the decision of the court below. Simply because this court's opinion in <u>Montgomerv</u> distinguishes and expands on the rule outlined in <u>Trusell</u> does not mean that either <u>Bates</u> or the opinion below are improper.

Most of the cases cited by the Petitioners' brief on the merits are consistent with the precedents of this court analyzed above and with the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal below. In nearly every one of those cases cited by the Petitioners, which are not discussed in any detail by the Petitioners' brief, in which the court found "constructive notice" the claimant had adduced some "additional evidence" as required by this court's precedents. Furthermore, many of the cases cited in the Petitioners' brief entirely support the decision below because they find in favor of the premises owner and acknowledge the absence of any "additional evidence" required by this Court.

There are two clear examples of cases cited by the Petitioners' brief in which the deciding courts noted an absence of the "additional evidence" required by this Court. Those cases are <u>Winn-Dixie Stores v. Marcotte</u>, 553 So. 2d 213 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), and <u>Silver Springs Moose Lodge v. Orman</u>, 631 So. 2d 1119 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994).

In <u>Winn-Dixie Stores v. Marcotte</u>, 553 So. 2d 213 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), the Fifth District Court reviewed the circumstances under which a defendant can be liable in a premises liability case. In <u>Marcotte</u>, the court stated:

An entity in the actual possession and control of a premises, such as a supermarket, to which members of the public are invited, is not an insurer of the safety of such persons, nor is the possessor strictly liable, or liable per se without fault, for injuries resulting to invitees from dangerous conditions on the premises; nevertheless, such a possessor basically has two legal duties to protect invitees from the harmful effects of dangerous premises conditions. First, such a premises possessor has a legal duty to ascertain that the premises are reasonably safe for invitees.... Secondly, the premises possessor has **a** second, entirely different, legal duty to use reasonable care to protect invitees from dangerous conditions of which the possessor has actual knowledge.

Id. at 214 (footnotes omitted).

In this case, the Petitioners never attempted to adduce any evidence to show that the Respondent had actual knowledge of any dangerous condition on its premises. In fact, all of the evidence adduced at trial established conclusively that none of the trial witnesses had any actual knowledge of the dangerous condition prior to the incident, including the Plaintiff herself.

Accordingly, this case must be analyzed as one involving the premises possessor's duty to use reasonable care to learn about the existence of **a** dangerous condition on its property. As indicated by Fifth District Court in <u>Marcotte</u>, "this legal duty is commonly conceptualized on the basis of 'constructive notice'  $\dots$ .<sup>1</sup> <u>Id</u>.

It has come to be **a** matter of black letter law Florida that a Plaintiff cannot recover in a "constructive **notice**" premises liability case in circumstances in which the Plaintiff is unable to establish the source of the dangerous condition on the premises or the length of time that dangerous condition existed. See <u>eq</u>, <u>K-Mart Corporation v. Dwyer</u>, 656 So. 2d 1340 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995); <u>Silver Springs Moose Lodge v. Orman</u>, 631 So. 2d 1119 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994); <u>Walmart Stores</u>, Inc. v. King, 592 So. 2d 705 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) <u>rev</u>. <u>denied</u>, 602 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 1992); and <u>Marcotte</u>, 553 So. 2d 213 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989).

Furthermore, it is also a matter of black letter law that a Plaintiff cannot attempt to establish a **"constructive** notice" premises liability case by stacking an inference upon an

inference in an attempt to show constructive notice. <u>See</u> <u>Montgomery v. Florida Jitney Jungle Stores, Inc.</u>, 281 so. 2d 302 (Fla. 1973), <u>Food Fair Stores, Inc. v. Trusell</u>, 131 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 1961), and <u>Orman</u>, 631 So. 2d 1119. In this case, the Petitioner first asked the jury to infer that the banana on which she fell came to be on the floor from some source within the Respondent's store. In addition, she asked the jury to infer that it had been on the floor for a sufficient amount of **time to** permit all of the "discoloration" present on the banana at the time of her fall to occur while the banana was on the floor. This is an impermissible stacking of inference on an inference in violation of <u>Trusell</u>, <u>Montgomerv</u>, and **Orman**.

In <u>Marcotte</u>, the Fifth District Court properly reversed the trial court's denial of a supermarket's Motion for Directed Verdict and Motion for New Trial. In that case, the court noted that

the customer produced no evidence that the supermarket's agents or employees caused the slippery substance to be on the supermarket floor or that they otherwise had actual knowledge of its existence before the accident. Neither did the customer produce evidence as to how or when the substance got on the floor or the length of time it was there before the accident.

<u>Id</u>. <u>Marcotte</u>, 553 So. 2d at 214.

After noting these facts, the Fifth District Court engaged in a discussion of how a premises possessor fulfills its legal duty to use reasonable care to discover the existence of a dangerous condition. The court stated that

This legal duty is commonly conceptualized on the basis of "constructive notice" but that description is often misleading in this context. It is a distortion of sound negligence theory and a mischievous oversimplication to merely say that a premises possessor has "constructive notice" of dangerous conditions not created by the possessor or his agents and not actually known by them. Such oversimplification of the legal concept of "constructive notice" to a premises possessor can result in imposing strict liability on the possessor for all injuries resulting from every dangerous condition existing on every square foot of occupied premises at every moment of time.

#### Id. at 214-215

Based on this observation, the Court found that a duty of a premises possessor to discover dangerous conditions not created by itself or its agents is fulfilled if the premises possessor engages in a reasonable inspection to discover unknown dangerous conditions. After observing this, the <u>Marcotte</u> court concluded that

Where, as here, there is no evidence the premises possessor had actual knowledge of the dangerous condition prior to the injury, and there is no evidence as to the length of **time** the dangerous condition existed prior to the injury, the premises possessor is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law and a jury is not authorized to speculate or arbitrarily impose strict liability based on the mere contention or general assertion that the premises possessor "should have known of" the dangerous condition.

# <u>Id</u>. at 215

In <u>Silver Ssrinss Moose Lodse v. Orman</u>, 631 So. 2d 1119 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), the Fifth District Court again reversed a trial court's denial of Motions for Directed Verdict and a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict based on the same

impermissible stacking of inferences presented by this **case**. Specifically, the **Orman** court noted that:

No evidence was introduced as to how the substance got onto the floor or how long it had been there prior to Orman's fall. Further, there were no smudges, streaks, tracks or foot prints in or around the liquid evidencing it was there for a sufficient period of time for the Moose Lodge to be charged with constructive knowledge of a potentially dangerous condition. Thus, as in <u>Marcotte</u>, because there was no evidence of actual or constructive knowledge, the trial court should have granted the Defendant's Motion for Directed Verdict.

### <u>Id</u>. at 1121

1

In <u>Orman</u> the Plaintiffs argued that the jury could infer that the water on the floor had come from a dripping umbrella used by one of the other people attending the bingo game. They also argued that, based on that inference, the jury could infer that the water had been on the floor for about an hour because the building had been open for approximately an hour.

In response, the Fifth District Court observed that the multiple inferences would "then enable the jury to conclude that the dangerous condition existed for a sufficient length of time before the accident to charge the Moose Lodge with constructive notice thereof." <u>Id</u>. at 1121. However, the <u>Orman</u> court concluded that this would be an impermissible stacking of inference upon inference based on the this Court's decision in <u>Food Fair Stores, Inc. v. Trussell</u>, 131 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 1961).

Relying on <u>Trussell</u> and <u>Montgomery</u>, the <u>Marcotte</u> court and the <u>Orman</u> court concluded that the claimants in those case had failed to adduce any "additional evidence" sufficient to establish the length of time the dangerous condition had existed,

which would have given the premises owners in those case "constructive notice." Accordingly, as with <u>Marcotte</u> and <u>Orman</u> the evidence adduced by the Petitioners in the case presently before this Court would require an impermissible stacking of inference upon inference in order for the jury to reach a conclusion that the Respondent could have had constructive notice of any dangerous condition.

There are several examples of cases cited by the Petitioners' brief in which the appellate courts properly found the existence of "constructive notice" because the "additional evidence" required by this Court was present in the record. In <u>Altman v. Publix</u>, 579 So. 2d 351 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) the court agreed with the plaintiff's contention that the record evidence offered was sufficient to create a question of fact concerning "constructive notice." This was true because the court found the required "additional evidence" in the record. Specifically, the plaintiff had testified that "the floor was very dirty and oily; that cigarette butts and candy wrappers littered the floor; and that grocery cart tracks and footprints traversed the dirty area where she fell." Id. at 352 (emphasis added).

In <u>Gonzalez v Tallahassee Medical Center, Inc</u>, 629 So, 2d 945 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) the "additional evidence" found by the court was the fact that several witnesses had been in continuous sight of the dangerous condition, spilled liquid, for roughly fifteen minutes to an hour but had not seen the spill occur. The court concluded that from this evidence the jury could properly

conclude that the dangerous condition had been created before those witnesses arrived and had therefore been present a sufficient length of time to create "constructive notice."

In <u>Newalk v. Florida Supermarkets, Inc.</u>, 610 So. 2d 528 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), the "additional evidence" was testimony that the oil spots on the floor **"appeared old."** <u>Id</u>. at 529 (emphasis added). Arguably, this is sufficient evidence of the length of time the condition existed because oil cannot get an **"old"** appearance while it is in its container.

In <u>Ress v. X-Tra Super Food Centers. Inc.</u>, 616 So. 2d 110 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), the "additional evidence" was the plaintiff's testimony that the substance on which she fell "looked like sauerkraut and it was 'gunky, dirty and wet and black."' She also testified that the store sold hot dogs and that sauerkraut was available as a condiment for those hot dogs. Id.

In <u>Thoma v. Cracker Barrel Old Country Store, Inc.</u>, 649 So. 2d 277 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), the "additional evidence," as in <u>Gonzalez</u>, was the fact that at least two witnesses had been in continuous sight of the dangerous condition, spilled liquid, for roughly fifteen minutes to half an hour but had not seen the spill occur. The <u>Thoma</u> court relied on the <u>Gonzalez</u> decision to conclude that from this evidence the jury could properly conclude that the dangerous condition had been created before those witnesses arrived and had therefore been present a sufficient length of time to create "constructive notice."

In <u>Washington v. Pic-N-Pay Supermarkets, Inc.</u>, 453 So. 2d 508 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), the "additional evidence" was the plaintiff's testimony that she slipped on some "old nasty collard green leaves" and that they "looked like they had been there for quite awhile." Id. at 509 (emphasis added).

In <u>Winn Dixie Stores, Inc. v. Williams</u>, 264 So. 2d 862 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972), the "additional evidence" was testimony of several witnesses that the "substance on the floor through which plaintiff fell was **sticky**, **dusty and dirty."** <u>Id</u>. at 863 (emphasis added).

In <u>Woods v. Winn Dixie Stores, Inc.</u>, 621 so. 2d 710 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993), the "additional evidence" was the plaintiff's testimony that the substance on which she fell was "very dirty," "trampled, " and "containing skid marks, scuff marks." <u>Id</u>. at 711 (emphasis added).

In addition to the cases cited by the Petitioners' brief, Respondent has found several other cases in which courts have found the presence of the "additional evidence" required by this Court's precedents. In <u>Teate v. Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc.</u>, 524 So. 2d 1060 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), the "additional evidence" was the water on the floor around the peas. The Plaintiff didn't testify only that there were thawed, previously frozen, peas on the floor. Rather, he testified that there was water around the thawing peas. If the peas had thawed somewhere other than the floor and then dropped to the floor there would be no water around them.

In <u>Colon v. Outback Steakhouse of Florida</u>, 721 So, 2d 769 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), the "additional evidence" was the **dirt in the** mashed potato. In <u>Zayre Corporation v. Bryant</u>, 528 So. 2d 516 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), the "additional evidence" was the **"'black** darkened' grocery cart tire tracks" running through the clear liquid on the floor. In <u>Camina v. Parliament Insurance Company</u>, 417 so. 2d 1093 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), the "additional evidence" was the dirt in the thawed ice cream. In <u>Winn-Dixie Stores</u>, Inc., v. <u>Guenther</u>, 395 So. 2d 244 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), the "additional evidence" was that the liquid on the floor "appeared dirty and had scuff marks and several grocery cart tracks" running through it.

1

The "additional evidence" required by this Court's precedents is essential to the just adjudication of premises liability case. Respondent acknowledges that the facts needed to show constructive notice can be demonstrated by circumstantial evidence. However, acknowledging the permissibility of circumstantial evidence is not the same as opening the flood gates to allow juries to entertain any speculation that may arise from that evidence.

That is precisely why this Court has always closely guarded the type of inferences at which a jury can arrive from circumstantial evidence. That is precisely why juries cannot be allowed to stack one inference on another unless a plaintiff has established the underlying inference to the exclusion of all other reasonable inferences. If this rule is not preserved then

juries will be able to find liability on nothing more than a whim and property owners will be subjected to what is essentially strict liability.

This is exactly the danger about which the Fifth District Court of Appeal warned in <u>Marcotte</u> when it stated:

1

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